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Figure 4: Article published after the death of Sr. Modesta, October 1993,

Conclusion: Charity and the Question of Authority
Women like Sister Modesta guaranteed that the altruistic work of religious
institutes would become an integral part of East German society. Official support
normalized the presence of religious orders in socialist Germany. In turn, the fact that
most religious congregations could continue their ministries largely unimpeded led to
acceptance of the GDR as their home. Certainly, the second generation of members of

orders, who came of age after the war were comfortable with the idea of East Germany as

8¢ provinzarchiv der Schwestern von der heiligen Elisabeth HAL 799 Schwester M. Modesta
Dudkowiak. 152/ 3. Artikel nach ihrem Tod 10 October 1993. Source of facsimile not archived. More
information can be found in Mertens, Geschichte der Schwestern von der heiligen Elisabeth in den
deutschen Provinzen, 1992-2009.
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their Heimat. In the 1970s, the Gray Sisters began to differentiate the Federal Republic
from the GDR in their chronicle.**’

Sisters in East Germany rarely felt state repression in the way that their
counterparts in Romania or Czechoslovakia did. Overt oppression would have surely
changed the landscape of the GDR. As it were, most confessional hospitals and many
kindergartens and retirement homes survived into a unified Germany. Decline in the
Church’s domestic charitable activity in the GDR was often the result of necessity—there
were fewer novices, economic need, a population decline—rather than from direct
repression by the regime. By 1975, there was concern from church officials about the
continuance of some charitable institutions in the GDR. Reports from Rome pointed out
that the lack of growth coupled with an aging population in vocational life would present
a challenge to the Church’s East German philanthropy.*® The Ursuline cloister in Erfurt,
for instance, struggled not with authorities but with practical everyday chores and the
costs of keeping their kindergarten open. Mother Lioba petitioned the bishop in Erfurt for
funds in order to pay for monthly costs for the ninety children in their charge, as most of
their donations for children’s ministries came from western gifts via the diocese of
Erfurt.*® In 1972, the School Sisters of Notre Dame wrote with regret to Archbishop
Kleinedamm that the care of the charges in their Berlin kindergarten would be transferred

to lay women due to the health of the elderly sisters.*” Yet even with the decreased

numbers of young people taking holy vows, many institutions remained open and

7 provinzarchiv der Schwestern von der heiligen Elisabeth HAL 953/ 3 Chronik Halle, 1970-1989.

S DAB Ia 4-3-4 Ordensreferat, Schriftwechsel, Problemfille A-G, 1966-1991 “Anmerkungen zum
Thema der Plenarkonferenz der Religionskongregation, 16-17 Oktober 1975.”

9 BAEF, ROO 70 A VIIL, “Ursulinenkloster Erfurt, 1948-1963,”12 July 1959.

“ DAB Ia 4-4 205, Jurisdiktionen, 1964-1981.
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expanded their services and renovated old buildings in the 1970s under more lenient state
policies. The civil authorities in Potsdam approved a building contract for the Ursuline
nuns in Neustadt to expand their children’s home with funding from both the secular
authorities and Caritas.*”’

Social services, like the Gray Sister’s soup kitchens and hospitals were possible
only because of their international ties to West Germany and Rome. To be sure, the flow
of currency and goods bolstered the East German economy, but those global networks
also made certain the survival of traditional religion in socialism. Throughout the 1950s,
the Gray Sisters at St. Barbara’s Hospital welcomed goods from their motherhouse in
West Germany. The provincial head and hospital matron Mother Theresia Visarius
ensured that her sisters were provided for in their work with the ill and poor in Halle.
They were able to first repair the roof of their residence as well as the foyer of the
hospital with financing from the Paderborn diocese. In 1956, the Gray sisters received a
new washing machine, and in 1958, a renovated kitchen with an electric oven, which
made the job of cooking for the 450 patients, sisters, and other hospital staff much easier.
The donations and collections were so generous that the Gray Sisters at St. Barbara had
extra building material, which they shared with city handcrafters, an action that surely
endeared them to the larger community.**>

Because of community support and modern technology sent from motherhouses
in the West, Catholic health and social services remained vibrant. State officials referred

to this commerce with the churches, often in the form of shipments of medical and

¥ DAB Ia 4-2 Ordensreferat Allgemeines, 1954-1980.
2 provinzarchiv der Schwestern von der heiligen Elisabeth PD 966 a, Chronik des St. Barbara-
Krankenhauses.
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technological equipment for confessional hospitals, as “church business.”*** From the
state perspective, “church business” unfortunately connected the East German devout to a
global community of faithful, many of whom held views oppositional to Eastern Bloc
communism. The regime’s leniency with the charity of orders gave it little moral
authority on which to draw when Mother Teresa of Calcutta requested to establish her
Missionaries of Charity within the GDR. SED authorities in the early 1980s, ever
concerned about their international image, found it difficult to protest the Nobel Peace
Prize winner praised for her work with the impoverished and outcasts, including people
dying from leprosy and HIV/ AIDS. As Chapter 4 will show, charitable institutions
within East Germany laid the groundwork for more mobility in the 1970s and 1980s,
including direct interaction with members of orders from other parts of the globe. The
SED found itself permitting more exchange between East German and foreign religious
communities, especially when networking pertained to peace movements or social
justice. Community service, and relief aid legitimated the existence of Catholic orders in
the first two decades of the GDR and laid the foundation for a semi-public sphere in
socialism.

At a seminar for Catholic orders, Cardinal Joachim Meisner, then head of East
German Caritas, declared that charity was the bedrock of the Church. Charity, he
concluded, connected the smallest parish church to the global Church. The benevolence
and leadership of religious men and women were central to the success of Caritas as both
a domestic and international movement. At the same conference, Sister Maria Pia of

Heiligenstadt discussed the importance of charity for nuns—the titles “Sister” and

493 Schaefer, The East German State, 122.
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“Mother” became meaningful only when sisters devoted themselves to alleviating
suffering and need in the world.**

The importance of pastoral care and ministry bolstered the mission of charity in
socialism, though the two ideologies were not mutually exclusive. Individual members of
religious orders did not always perceive their work to be in opposition to the regime or to
socialism more generally. Catholics in East Germany were positioned unhappily between
the idea of “Christian socialism” and the Vatican’s Cold War policies that often rebuked
Communism.*** Nevertheless, members of orders based in East Germany drew parallels
between their own charity and the goals of the socialist state to provide for citizens.
Marx’ indictment that such comparisons only served to bolster oppressive capitalism rang
hollow in the context of the work of orders within socialism. Nuns like those at the
Abbey of St. Gertrud served poor villagers and provided for basic needs when the
socialist state could not, and even expressed some nostalgia about the importance of their
priory for the area during the Cold War period. Of course, most nuns and others in
religious life were overwhelmingly positive about the reunification of Germany, which
allowed for more efficient exchange of church money, ideas, and people. The nuns at St.
Gertrud described the political changes as a “gift from God.”*® Their optimism was
tempered by the knowledge that a change in government did not necessarily mean
improvement for the very poor in their midst. The nuns in Alexanderdorf spoke of the
hopeless conditions of the surrounding rural villages after the end of socialism. The

people had always been poor, but at least under socialism there was often the promise of

44 DAB Ia 4-3-2 Bistum Berlin Orden und Kongregationen, Ordensreferat, Juniorabkurs, Exerzitien,

1967-1980.
495 Tischner, Katholische Kirche in der SBZ/ DDR, 235.
49 Aus der Geschichte des Klosters St. Gertrud, 69.
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some work or subsistence. The abbey alone, which supported itself autonomously, could
not provide for the daily needs of the surrounding communities. Men and women directly
involved in charity recognized the continued need of people in eastern Germany that
could not be remedied by the euphoria of reunification.

Sister Modesta frequently charged sisters who were feeling discontent to “go into
the city and see the conditions under which other people must live.”*” Women like
Modesta chose to remain in a state that could have been overtly hostile to the vocation of
Christian ministry and charity. Fortunately for Caritas and members of religious
institutes, the GDR remained relatively tolerant of confessional social and health
services. In this context, the coexistence of religious notions of charity and socialist ideas
seemed possible in practice. The success of charitable institutions in East Germany was
dependent not only on tolerant and ambivalent state policy, but also on the creativity and
commitment of Catholic congregations active in the GDR. Charity gave Catholic
institutes purpose and agency in East German society and would allow them more
influence in negotiations with the state. The great importance and independence afforded
to charitable establishments, and by extension the orders who staffed them, established
spaces and leaders for a semi-public sphere, in which the devout could continue long-

established ritual and pilgrimage in the socialist landscape.

7 Provinzarchiv der Schwestern von der heiligen Elisabeth HAL 799 Schwester M. Modesta Dudowiak.
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CHAPTER 3
THE SOCIALIST SACRED: ORDERS, PILGRIMAGES, AND SITES OF
DEVOTION
Introduction
A German translation of an excerpt from the Vatican’s newspaper L 'Osservatore
Romano circulated throughout the East German Catholic community in 1984 and
garnered the attention of SED authorities, who promptly filed it with the Secretariat for
Church Affairs.*”® The words of Pope John Paul IT described the mysteries of sacred
space and the importance of pilgrimage for the faithful: “Pilgrimage sites are signs from
God, that occur throughout the history of mankind...and are permanent conduits for the
good news of salvific power.”*” The Polish pope, who knew poignantly the limitations
of devotion in a socialist dictatorship, spoke to the hearts of East German Catholics and
to the fears of state officials: “Pilgrimage sites in our time, when people suffer under
worldwide secularization, are even more important... at the heart of belief.”*° The
Pope’s words vindicated the ritual actions of the East German faithful, who had
established a local pilgrimage culture in the GDR and were just beginning to traverse

international borders in the 1980s.

48 SAPMO-BArch DO 4/ 670 L’ Osservatore Romano 48, 30 November 1984. “Papst Johannes Paul I1.
Zu Aufgabe und Bedeutung der Wallfahrtsorte.”

49 «Die Wallfahrtsorte sind Zeichen Gottes, der in die Geschichte der Menschheit eintritt.” ... “Die
traditionelle und stets aktuelle Bestimmung der Wallfahrtsorte ist: eine stdndige Antenne zu sein fiir die
Frohbotschaft des Heils.”

390 «Ip unserer Zeit, die besonders unter der Versuchung zur Verweltlichung leidet, sind die
Wallfahrtsorte von groer Bedeutung. Als Stitten des Geistes sollen sie stindig den Geist und das Herz der
Glaubenden und Nichtglaubenden ansprechen. Diese Heiligtiimer sollen zu Heimstétten werden, wo die
Pilger den Sinn ihres Lebens wiederfinden und wo sie eine Erfahrung der Gegenwart und der Liebe Gottes
machen konnen.”
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Christian pilgrimage in East Germany, and in a wider context, was first and
foremost an act of faith in the transformative power of a holy place. It was also rooted in
deep cultural traditions within European society. The act of travel to specific places either
reaffirmed existing social relations or encouraged revolution or reform with otherworldly
ideas rather than confirming the status quo. In the case of socialist East Germany, it was
even possible to view the act of religious travel as aligning with socialism, as pilgrimage
also supported notions that there was an absence of inequality, poverty, rank, or
distinction. At the same time, pilgrimage was an act of political defiance as a practice that
SED authorities deemed antiquated and feudal. The motivations for pilgrimage, which
often verged on mysticism, also ran counter to scientific materialism, or the belief that
everything that truly exists must be empirically test and verified using the resources of
natural science.”®' The journey to sacred sites to perform certain actions in hopes to
obtain some sort of transformation, be it a cure for disease or a change in their family’s
prospects for the future, ostensibly had no place in a socialist society that prescribed to a

P . 2
materialist worldview.*°

The GDR regime permitted the practice of pilgrimage, though
its conspicuous nature caused official unease and required regular negotiations between
Church and state representatives. The continued tolerance of the practice within domestic
borders inadvertently produced a more robust practice distinct to East German Catholics.

East German pilgrimage culture was more than simply a byproduct of ambivalent

state policy. The practice was an outgrowth of the interactions between men and women

% For a definition of “scientific materialism” and an extended discussion of religion and science in

modern Europe, see Alfred North Whitehead’s Science and the Modern World, (New York: Simon and
Schuster, 1967 [1925]), 18.

%92 William S. Sax, Mountain Goddess: Gender and Politics in a Himalayan Pilgrimage (New York,
Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1991), 13.
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in religious orders with lay Catholics, especially because convents were so often the sites
of religious devotion. As a result of political restraints, the Catholic community adapted
its sacred destinations to fit East Germany’s limited possibilities for travel and
expression. To truly understand the complex and seemingly paradoxical experience of
ritual and pilgrimage in the GDR, it is important to look first and foremost at the
participants’ own accounts, which were recorded primarily in the chronicles and of East

German religious institutes.

Defining the Sacred

Anthropologists Victor and Edith Turner describe the experience of pilgrimage as
“an axis mundi of faith,” or a connection between a pilgrim’s beliefs and larger society.’*
In the GDR, as in most societies, ritual travel was an interplay between the pilgrims
themselves, the Church, the secular community, and the authoritarian state.’™ The
motivations for pilgrims were often more pragmatic than the Turner’s axis mundi of faith.
For those living in the GDR, the spiritual motivations were coupled with more tangible
aspirations, like visiting a sister house in neighboring Poland or wanting to see Rome
firsthand. Devotees could use pilgrimage as grounds for extended travel.

This chapter is interested in how the East German devout in the second half of the

twentieth century understood local pilgrimage (Wallfahrt) and those journeys farther

afield (Pilgerfahrt). It explores the meanings that members of orders ascribed to their

%% Victor and Edith Turner, Image and Pilgrimage in Christian Culture (New York: Columbia
University Press, 1978), 34.

3% Michael Sallnow suggests that there is always “a complex interplay between the social relations of
pilgrimage and those associated with secular activities.” John Eade and Michael J. Sallnow, eds. Conftesting
the Sacred: The Anthropology of Christian Pilgrimage (Urbana Champagne: Illinois University Press,
1991), xii.
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own pilgrimages and the role they played as preservers of pilgrimage sites. This chapter
traces the role of orders in pilgrimage from the immediate postwar era to the more
flexible travel periods of the 1970s and 1980s. Both large-scale commemorations, like the
St. Elizabeth pilgrimage to Erfrut cathedral as well as smaller, annual pilgrimages to
chapels and monasteries played a significant role in East German Catholic life. More
important, the act of pilgrimage in socialism connected the traveler to an ancient, even
mythological past, and to an international network of the faithful outside of the East
German experience.

The separation from Rome, the focal point of western Catholicism and the alleged
resting place of St. Peter and St. Paul, was certainly a source of consternation for orders
in socialist countries. The cult of sainthood, which flourished in medieval Christianity,
had however created a multitude of sacred sites throughout Christendom. Even in the
very Protestant and increasingly secularized eastern parts of Germany, there remained
sites considered sacred by the Catholic faithful that were often connected to natural
landscape, monasteries, historic chapels, and cathedrals, like St. Mary’s Cathedral in
Erfurt.

These sites became even more central to Catholic piety in the GDR and became
the focal points of pilgrimage and travel. Religious orders were central to the
maintenance of these sites and the continuation of votive travel. In this way, priests and
sisters, traveling in their habits with the Catholic faithful, exercised a very visible
presence in the socialist landscape of East Germany’s towns and countryside. The
experience of pilgrims and those who observed religious journeys more directly

cultivated an East German Catholic identity than the sites themselves, though certainly
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the landscape played a central role in informing the experiences of pilgrims. Likewise,
the devout imprinted their character on the East German landscape. Sisters, brothers, and
priests, who led the faithful to chapels, cathedrals, and monasteries, maintained holy
pathways and the sites themselves. Shrines and wayside crosses dotted even the plains of
Brandenburg, a region that had been predominantly Protestant since the Reformation.

Many scholars of the non-Western world have extended the definition of
pilgrimage to encompass “any journey to a sacred place to perform some religious
act.”"® There are a variety of ways to conceptualize the process of pilgrimage, though
there is no term to distinguish between specific destinations. The notion of pilgrimage
transcends confessional or religious identity. Historially, pilgrimages have involved a
journey to a specific destination: a holy city, a shrine, a sanctuary, a church, or a natural
feature. What these destinations do have in common is their transformative powers as
corroborated by the devout that visit holy sites and experience renewal, healing, or
spiritual transformation. The spiritual importance placed on pilgrimage becomes clear in
the pages of institutional chronicles. In 1965, a chronicler of the Sisters of St. Elizabeth in
Halle exuberantly described the communal feeling of renewal after a retreat in the
countryside.”®

Pilgrims expanded definitions of “the sacred” to vivify their experiences and the
places they could visit given travel restrictions. The Gray Sisters imprinted their own
meaning on the annual seminar at the Benedictine Huysburg abbey. By drawing

examples from the life of their namesake St. Elizabeth, they made the experience sacred

%% Susan Naquin and Chiin-Fang Yii, “Pilgrimage in Comparative Perspective,” in Pilgrimage in China
(Berkeley, Los Angeles, Oxford: University of California Press, 1992), 3.
3% provinzarchiv der Schwestern von der heiligen Elisabeth HAL 953/ 2, 1931-1969.
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and real for themselves and other participants. This underlines the fact that the notion of
sacred was not something fixed and was constantly created and recreated based on the
political and social needs of the faithful.®” Because of continuous adaptation, it was
impossible to entirely separate a sacred place and the religious communities that tended
to those spaces from the political pressures of a sometimes-repressive regime, something
that would be paramount for establishing a Catholic public sphere within the GDR.
Unlike many practices in the Catholic Church, pilgrimage was not regulated by
the liturgical calendar. Most Catholics undertook pilgrimages to renew their faith and
show devotion to God and then re-engage in their lives with a revived sense of
purpose.”® This renewal of purpose was especially important for people in religious
vocations living in a secular society. Sisters and priests constantly negotiated with the
state for the right to maintain traditional practices and minister to laypeople. Many
expressed discouragement at the dwindling numbers of young people entering the church
and taking vows. Gatherings of the faithful gave them a sense of purpose and renewed
spirit. Religious houses therefore encouraged retreats and granted their members long

respites with family or for vacation.

Zu Gast im Kloster —The Cloister as a Site of Pilgrimage
The Rule of St. Benedict, the foundation of Western monasticism, instructs that

“all guests who present themselves are to be welcomed as Christ.”** Enclosed orders in

07 Christopher McKevitt, “San Giovanni Rotondo and the shrine of Padre Pio,” in Contesting the
Sacred, 79.

%% Glenn Bowman, “Christian Ideology and the Image of a Holy Land: The Place of Jerusalem
Pilgrimage in the Various Christianities,” in Contesting the Sacred (Urbana and Chicago: University of
Chicago Press, 1991), 112.

399 St. Benedict, The Rule of St. Benedict, edited by Timothy Fry, O.S.B. (Collegeville, Minnesota: The
Liturgical Press, 1982), 73.
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East Germany held true to this spirit of radical hospitality by opening the doors of their
cloisters and institutions to guests and pilgrims. Cloisters, in particular, proved to be the
most beloved- and well-traveled pilgrimage sites within the GDR. Orders had long been
the keepers of holy artifacts and as a result their convents were historically considered
sacred sites. Travelers could also find respite and peace behind monastery walls.
Monasticism gave pilgrimages an air of other worldliness. The devout could be
transported to another temporality, separate from Cold War rhetoric and political
ideology.

Most of the popular pilgrimage cloisters in the GDR met the romantic image of a
convent nestled in the countryside. These included the two medieval Cisterian
monasteries outside of Dresden: Marienthal and Marienstern and the pilgrimage church
of Rosenthal, two Franciscan monasteries of Hiilfensberg and Kerbschen Berg, the
Benedictine cloister on Huysburg near Halberstadt (not established as an abbey until
1974), and the Abbey of St. Gertrud (a priory until 1984) in Alexanderdorf outside of
Berlin, and these did not account for the multitude of smaller cloisters and communities
of sisters, priests, monks, and brothers in nearly every region of the GDR. In the capital
city of Berlin there were more than 130 cloisters, from the Sisters of Mercy of St.
Borromeo in central East Berlin to the Franciscans in Pankow.”"*

Cloisters as pilgrimage sites became a nexus of negotiated meaning, influenced by
church officials, guardians of the site, usually members of an order, lay pilgrims, and the
socialist state. In a way, places like the Benedictine Abbey of St. Gertrud became a third

space for the faithful who traveled there for spiritual purposes — separate from both

*1% TIse Nicolas, “In Berlin gibt es noch 130 Kldster,” Neue Zeit 1965.
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church and secular politics. Though cloistered orders like the Benedictines sought to
separate themselves for society, and yet, because of their perceived inviolability, they
were often drawn into the social relations they eschewed for a contemplative life. This
was particularly true for Catholic devotees who often journeyed to cloisters as sacred
sites of pilgrimage. As early as the eleventh and twelfth centuries, monasteries and
nunneries were places of retreat for laity and contemplatives offered shelter for pilgrims
and travelers.”'' The same spirit held true for cloisters in the GDR. These spaces offered
an opportunity for not just the lay traveler to experience a moment of contemplative life,
but also members of other orders, both domestic and international.

The spring journey to Huysburg, the primary pilgrimage site in the Diocese of
Marburg, became an annual pilgrimage to which many orders based in cities looked
forward. It allowed clergy and orders the opportunity to pray and worship within cloister
walls, separated from daily concerns. The majority of Gray Sisters working at hospitals in
Halle loaded into buses and cars every year after Pentecost to journey to Huybsburg to
experience spiritual renewal with their colleagues and the Benedictine monks.’'* The
Huysburg was not founded as a Benedictine community until 1972, but already
established itself as an important pilgrimage space, as a medieval abbey, dissolved by
Prussian authorities long before socialism, had once occupied the site. After the small
community of Benedictine monks consecrated their abbey, it also became a branch
seminary for East Germans with aspirations for priesthood, since they were cut off from

the seminary in Paderborn. Since the 1950s, priests had hosted seminars for orders and

' Swanson, Religion and Devotion in Europe, 108.

312 provinzarchiv der Schwestern von der heiligen Elisabeth HAL 953/ 3 1970-1989, 198. More than
thirty women participated from Mauerstrafle in 1988, a time when orders felt keenly the decline in their
numbers.
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lay families at the Huysburg.”"® Even the state recognized the cultural importance of the
chapel and former abbey and allowed the Catholic Church in the 1950s to restore the
buildings for the purpose of pilgrimage and an East German seminary.”'*

Another spiritual retreat was the Franciscan cloister of Kerbschen Berg near
Dingelstédt. The brothers there hosted numerous pilgrimages and seminars, the largest of
which was the annual women’s pilgrimage, which drew anywhere from 5,000 to 10,000
women from all over East Germany.’'® Pilgrims who traveled to Kerbschen Berg
included laywomen and orders, and in 1975 included a Franciscan from Tokyo, who
Bishop Aufderbeck greeted personally while thanking the service of the Franciscans in
the Eichsfeld region.’"®

Celebrations marking historical milestones drew the largest number of pilgrims to
cloisters. When the Cistercian abbey of St. Marienthal commemorated its 750" year in
1984, more than 20,000 pilgrims, including many Polish neighbors, traveled to the
isolated cloister.”'” Likewise, when the Franciscans in Hiilfensberg opened their doors in
1960 for an anniversary pilgrimage commemorating 100 years as a cloister and 600 years

as a pilgrimage site, around 30,000 pilgrims arrived from the surrounding areas. The high

313 SAPMO-BArch DO 4/ 668 Ministerium des Innern, Hauptabteilung Staatliche Verwaltung, Betr.:
Priesterseminar Huysburg, dated from 13 August 1951.

314 SAPMO-BArch DO 4/ 668 Ministerium des Inneren, Hauptabteilung Staatliche Verwaltung, Betr.:
Ehemalige Benediktinerabtei Huysburg, Kreis Oschersleben, dated from 31 July 1951.

315 SAPMO-BArch DO 4/ 669, “Information iiber Frauenwallfahrt der katholischen Kirche nach dem
Kerbschen Berg bei Dingelstadt (Kreis Worbis),” dated from 15 July 1968.

316 SAPMO-BArch DO 4/ 670 “Information iiber die Frauenwallfahrt zum Kerbschen Berg in
Dingelstddt am 18. Juni 1976,” dated from 20 July 1976.

S SAPMO-BArch DO 4/ 670 Rat des Bezirkes Dresden, Staatssekretir fiir Kirchenfragen, dated 10
September 1984.
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attendance at these commemorative events surprised SED officials, who found
themselves planning for unexpected traffic and processions.’'®

By and large, however, pilgrims visited cloisters throughout the year in small
numbers. The Redemptorist cloister in Heiligenstadt, for example, offered year-round
confessions, sacraments, and rest to the Catholic community in Eichsfeld.’'® The
Benedictine nuns in Alexanderdorf kept their cloister open to guests since their founding
in the village in the 1930s. For holidays like Pentecost and Easter, young people could
stay in hostel-like arrangements. An image from 1934 depicted young women resting on
straw and blankets, accommodations not unlike what was offered during GDR times.**’
School groups visited the abbey from Berlin and the surrounding area during the 1980s.
The Benedictine abbey held a place of spiritual importance in the landscape of the Mark
and attracted people from devout Catholic women to Soviet soldiers.

Secular institutes also served as retreats for the East German community. The
Gray Sisters in Utzdorf housed recuperating patients from their hospitals in Halle and
Berlin. The location in Utzdorf was originally established in 1926 for the purpose of
spiritual and physical renewal and recuperation. During the Second World War, the
sisters cared for soldiers and extended their care to Russian soldiers after May 1945 and
displaced people from Silesia. In 1950, the Gray Sisters added a home for the retired or

infirm in their order and Utzdorf again became a quasi-pilgrimage site for the spiritually

> SAPMO-BArch DO 4/ 669 Aktenvermerk fiir Koll. Kusch—Anruf Koll. Gotthard, Erfurt 31.5.60.
Betrifft: Wallfahrt Hiilfensberg am 12.6.1960 — Anlaf3: 600 Jahre Wallfahrtsort und 100 Jahre Franziskaner
Kloster.

319 SAPMO-BArch DO 4/ 5167 “Ein Zentrum der Seelsorge. Das Redemptoristenkloster zu
Heiligenstadt in Vergangenheit und Gegenwart,” Der Neue Weg, Halle, 8 August 1976.

2 dus der Geschichte der Benediktinerinnenabtei St. Gertrud in Alexanderdorf. Der Weg einer
Schwesterngemeinschaft im 20. Jahrhundert, by Karl-Heinz Schulisch (Druckerei und Verlag D.
Schneider: Topfchin, 1998), 25.
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321 By the 1980s, the Gray Sisters in Utzdorf hosted a variety of

and physically ailing.
East Germans, from pilgrims seeking lodging and healing to regular retirement groups
looking to escape Leipzig for the countryside.

Members of orders in East Germany often visited the Utzdorf location for respite
and leisure. In 1988, eighteen Caritas sisters stayed for respite and religious
contemplation, while just a few weeks later a retirement group from Leipzig lodged with
the sisters in Utzdorf. Earlier that same year, a group of Dominicans from Leipzig
sojourned with the Gray Sisters.”** The sisters also provided a summerhouse and a family
home and welcomed guests who sought recreation time with their families or wanted to
stay with a recovering child.’* Of particular joy to the sisters was an annual children’s
pilgrimage from a Leipzig parish in preparation for their first confession and
communion.’**

Many of the Catholic retreat centers like Utzdorf or the sparse lodgings at the
Benedictine priory in Alexanderdorf (only an abbey after 1984) more closely resembled
the cabins and family camping sites in the countryside that were so popular among many
GDR citizens, especially those who lived in urban areas and took family vacations to
rural summer cottages. Catholics viewed them as spiritual retreats into nature, and the
fact that they were in line with German traditions certainly helped in negotiations with
officials. The spiritual and transformative power of these trips, as well as the presence of

religious guides with ritual harking back to the medieval church, differentiated local

32! provinzarchiv der Schwestern von der heiligen Elisabeth PD 603 1926-2012, Chronik Utzdorf, St.
Maria Afra, dated from 1963.

>22 provinzarchiv der Schwestern von der heiligen Elisabeth HAL 196 1961-2002, Berichte Utzdorf.

32 Provinzarchiv der Schwestern von der heiligen Elisabeth PD 603 1926-2012, Chronik Utzdorf, St.
Maria Afra, dated from 1972.

324 Provinzarchiv der Schwestern von der heiligen Elisabeth HAL 196 1961-2002, Berichte Utzdorf.
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pilgrimages from secular summer camping trips. These types of local pilgrimages to
cloisters were often organized on the parish level or by a local religious order, though
regular visits to sacred sites were just as formative for East German Catholics as larger
GDR-wide gatherings. More important still, visits to cloisters allowed Catholic sisters,
brothers, clergy, and laypeople to interface and establish networks that could efficiently
communicate and mobilize the Catholic community for large-scale commemorations,
feast days, and pilgrimages to important centers of East German religiosity, like Erfurt’s

towering medieval cathedral.

Erfurt Cathedral: The East German St. Peter’s Basilica?

The continued importance of church-wide pilgrimage throughout the duration of
the GDR affirmed the identity of participants as faithful Christians living within the
confines of closed political borders but more specifically as distinctly German Catholics,
connected to their spiritual predecessors as well as the Church in the West. St. Peter’s
Basilica it was not, but Erfurt Cathedral, also known as St. Mary’s Cathedral, became a
focal point for processions and gatherings. The Soviet Military Administration, working
with locals in Erfurt, recognized the cathedral’s importance as a cultural icon in 1947 and
began restoration of the medieval structure.’> Because of the cathedral’s long history
with saints of the region and because it served as the seat of the diocese which included
the Catholic region of Eichsfeld, St. Mary’s Cathedral became a center of East German
Catholicism. Unlike the modern architecture of St. Hedwig’s Cathedral in Berlin, Erfurt

Cathedral is an imposing fourteenth-century gothic structure that houses the oldest

323 «Kulturnotizen. Restaurierung des Erfurter Doms,” Neues Deutschland. 15 August 1947.
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medieval bell in the world as well as relics and a lavish stucco altar. Because Erfurt
remained largely unscathed during the war, it would be impossible to ignore such a
structure towering on the hillside above the red roofs of Erfurt’s inner city—a monument

to an era believed to be past.

Figure 5: Image of the Church of St. Severus with Erfurt Cathedral in the background. Photo taken by the
author, March 2014. The medieval churches dominate Erfurt’s skyline and city center.

S, . "o 1

Fgl;;_é 6: Image of Erfurt Cathedral from Domplatz. Photo taken by Jon Berndt Olsen, 2015.
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Consequently, the largest annual pilgrimages were to Erfurt, which brought
bishops and representatives from neighboring countries, both East and West. From the
1950s, Erfurt became a focal point for pilgrimages large and small. In 1955, an
unexpected 25,000 pilgrims journeyed to Erfurt for what would become an annual
autumn pilgrimage.”*® A choir of sisters sang the Gloriosa in the Cathedral Square. Their
voices were joined by the spontaneous chorus of priests, laymen and women, and young
people, an experience that must have impressed itself on the memories of participants and
observers.””’ Orders were integral in organization and participation. They sang in choirs,
took donations for Catholic charities, especially Not fiir die Welt (“Need in the World”),
and set up bazaars. According to the records of the Gray Sisters in Halle, between
60,000-70,000 Catholics participated in the 1980 pilgrimage to the Erfurt cathedral, the
highlight of which was the celebration of the Eucharist on the steps of the cathedral.”*® In
an attempt to downplay the cathedral’s continued religious significance, the SED’s news
organ Neues Deutschland reported fewer participants than Church sources.”*’ Even CDU
sources preferred to emphasize the historical character, rather than the sacred and overtly
religious nature of these spaces. A Neue Zeit article form 1980 praised the “cooperation
between political authorities and Christian communities to restore the 1,000-year-old
cathedral,” calling the preservation of historical monuments “a civic and Christian

responsibility.”>*°

326 SAPMO-BArch DO 4/ 6024 “25000 Katholiken bei der Wallfahrt in Erfurt. Verpflichtung zu
christlichem Zeugnis, wo wir auch stehen,” from Thiiringer Tageblatt, Weimar, 29 September 1955.

327 SAPMO-BArch DO 4/ 6024 “Die ‘Gloriosa’ erklang iiber den Domplatz,” Thiiringer Neueste
Nachrichten 29 September 1955.

328 provinzarchiv der Schwestern von der heiligen Elisabeth HAL 953/ 3, Chronik Halle 1970-1989, 154.

32 SAPMO-BArch DO 4/ 5151: Bischofliches Amt Erfurt-Meiningen, 1969-1989.

39 SAPMO-BArch DO 4/ 5151: Bischofliches Amt Erfurt-Meiningen, 1969-1989
"Gutes Zusammenwirken in der Denkmalpflege," Neue Zeit, dated from 25 September 1980.
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Authorities likely wanted to downplay the centrality of these types of pilgrimages
in the lives of devout East Germans, or the fact that such a huge number of people living
in a socialist society would still participate in such an anachronistic practice. Certainly,
state papers did not include, as the Catholic weekly publication St. Hedwigsblatt did, the
meaningful and unifying nature of the sacrament of Eucharist observed visibly in Erfurt’s

1
center square.’

A 1986 article from the CDU’s Thiiringer Tageblatt featured a photo of
an enormous crowd in the cathedral square to listen to an equally large pilgrim choir,
gathered for the autumn pilgrimage to the cathedral’s steps.’*” The highlight of this
pilgrimage, like others, was sharing the sacrament of Holy Communion. By the 1980s,
religious communities felt more comfortable addressing global political and economic
issues. A theme of the 1986 autumn pilgrimage was something that must have resonated
with devout socialists as well—the injustices of Apartheid in South Africa.’*?

Erfurt’s Cathedral maintained its centrality and importance in Catholic religious
life throughout the duration of the GDR, largely due to the devout Catholic community in
the nearby Eichstatt region and the legacies of Thuringia’s native saints, St. Elisabeth and
St. Boniface. It was also used as a meeting place for the Catholic student community in
Erfurt.”** Because of its centrality as a site of gathering, Erfurt’s cathedral became a

fixture in East German religious life and something of a symbol for the Catholic

community.

331 SAPMO-BArch DO 4/ 5151: Bischofliches Amt Erfurt-Meiningen, 1969-1989.

332 SAPMO-BArch DO 4/ 5028, “Gewifheit der Zukunft und der Hoffnung,” in Thiiringer Tageblatt 227
26 September 1986.

333 SAPMO-BArch DO 4/ 5028, “GewiBheit der Zukunft und der Hoffnung,” in Thiiringer Tageblatt
227 26 September 1986.

** SAPMO-BArch DO 4/ 5143.
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Amid the reforms of the Second Vatican Council, East German clergy, orders,
and laity traveled to the cathedral to discuss and pray for the new changes. Weimar’s
Catholic newspaper Thiiringer Tageblatt reported in 1963 that thousands of pilgrims
flocked to the cathedral for the traditional autumn pilgrimage and to hear Bishop
Aufderbeck’s and Bishop Freusberg’s report on the Council’s progress.”*> These types of
reports from Church officials, who held diplomat status, were the only connection the
devout had with Rome during this period. After prayers for the Council, the pilgrimage
continued with processions and singing through Erfurt. The cathedral again became a
focal point for Catholics when in 1979, Bishop Aufderbeck held a pontifical high mass to
memorialize the retrieval of Saint Adolar’s relics. Adolar was Boniface’s closest
companion, and his remains were interred in the cathedral’s crypt in 1962. Berlin’s Neue
Zeit reported on the importance of these relics to the Catholic community in an article

from May 1979.%%

Preserving and Diversifying Sacred Sites in the GDR
The survival of Erfurt Cathedral as a focal point for Catholic life and pilgrimage
was made possible partially because of the state’s support of upkeep on the edifice as an
important part of East Germany’s heritage. The preservation of historic religious sites and
the ability for devout communities to continue practice in these spaces was not
necessarily a common practice under socialist regimes. In many communist countries, the
state attacked what it perceived to be superstitious and reactionary ritual practices. In

China after 1949, for instance, the state led campaigns against popular religion by

335 SAPMO-BArch DO 4/ 6024, “Herbstwallfahrt in Erfurt,” Thiiringer Tageblatt 23 September 1963.
»¢ SAPMO-BArch DO 4/ 5143.
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promoting scientific education in hopes to dissuade pilgrims from visiting sites purported
to be holy or provide healing.”*’ Perhaps because the Catholic community was a minority
or because there were other pressing concerns after the war, authorities in the GDR never
formulated a wide-scale campaign to stop religious travel. The East German state’s early
ambivalence toward religious spaces, like churches and shrines, in fact allowed for the
continued existence of ritual practices and pilgrimages, even in the 1950s, and thus
provided a great deal of continuity between prewar and postwar Catholic traditions.

The preservation of historic religious sites, likewise perhaps unwittingly,
contributed to the continuance of an eastern pilgrimage culture. Beginning in the late
1950s, the state, working with local communities, preserved iconic churches and
cathedrals, such as Erfurt’s Cathedral and Berlin’s Marienkirche and Leipzig’s
Thomaskirche, as markers of German culture and to provide continuity to the prewar
German past. As early as 1950, the Protestant Church requested to reclaim many church
edifices, but the regime sometimes repurposed these buildings in the postwar period for
secular use. In later years, the state used historic sites to attract tourism, particularly to
churches and buildings in Erfurt and the Halle administrative district that had many
connections to the life and legacy of Martin Luther. The state continued to contribute
money for administration and the repair of churches into the 1980s. At the same time,
very few religious structures were built in East Germany’s new industrial towns, though
there was an increase in new churches or places repurposed for worship in rural areas. In

1976 alone the state budgeted for the construction of forty new churches, both Protestant

37 Steve A. Smith, “Local Cadres Confront the Supernatural: The Politics of Holy Water (Shenshui) in
the PRC, 1949-1966, The China Quarterly 188 (December 2006): 999-1022.
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and Catholic.”*® The continued construction of churches indicated that the state had set an
earlier precedent that normalized building for religious purposes. Moreover, the fact that
the SED helped subsidize some of these projects reflected the significance of religious
devotion in a population that was presumably secular.

In the same vein, the Catholic Church sought to preserve its own sacred and
historic sites, most of which were maintained by monastic or religious orders. The
complexity of the state’s religious policy was illustrated most acutely in the SED’s
“religious freedom” propaganda campaign that tolerated churches’ prominent role in
local communities and emphasized the important work of church charity.>** The Gray
Sisters, in particular, as one of the largest congregations in East Germany, battled the
state in the 1950s to keep the doors of hospitals, schools, and kindergartens open. They
were able to preserve what was perceived as practical institutions as well as small chapels
and wayside shrines by citing their existence in the early twentieth century. The East
German state often conceded these contestations over sites, as they did not want to be
equated with the National Socialists, whose policies seized, commandeered, and re-
appropriated cloisters and church land.>*

Travel, especially pilgrimage with its performative aspects—carrying crosses,
processing with candles and relics, singing religious songs—was another matter. A 1953

letter from an official in Dresden recommended restricting open displays of religion,

>3 SAPMO-BArch DO 4/ 1308, Kirchliche Ausbildungseinrichtungen.

339 Sean Brennan, The Politics of Religion in Soviet Occupied Germany: The Case of Berlin-
Brandenburg, 1945-1949 (Lexington Books, 2011), 2.

40 Annette Mertens, Himmlers Klostersturm. Der Angriff auf katholische Einrichtungen im Zweiten
Weltkrieg und die Wiedergutmachung nach 1945. (Leipzig, Univ., Diss., 2005).
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citing the negative influences of a church dedication, procession, and dance.”*' The
policy going forward would be to refuse permission for disruptive outward displays of

faith.>*?

Undertaking religious journeys and the practice of public procession, just like
other practices and sacraments from confirmation to the anointing of the sick, were
traditions that would be continually contested and negotiated within socialism. Church
leaders and clergy often adapted pilgrimages as a result of these political constraints, but
did not concede completely to the wishes of the state. Journeys that would have
traditionally ended or begun in West Germany were curtailed to sites within the eastern
borders. Church officials and clergy, orders included, exercised control over the way
pilgrims interpreted their journeys and participated in ritual.

The reforms of the Second Vatican Council also set new standards regarding
ritual and how people should interpret the sacred and express themselves. Rome’s
reforms of the 1960s encouraged the direct participation of lay people in mass and
personal devotion. In so doing, the reforms encouraged Catholics to imprint their own
meaning on their experiences.”* For many female orders, Vatican II was particularly
inspiring as they were encouraged to assert themselves more in ministering to the
Catholic community. This included leading pilgrimages and hosting seminars.

Simultaneous to the reforms of Vatican II that promoted increased participation,

the political climate of the late 1950s and 60s constricted the more visible practices of

31 SAPMO-BArch DO 4/ 2726 Rat des Bezirkes Dresden, Ref. Religionsgem. An die Staatsekretariat
fiir Innere Angelenheiten, Betr.: Veranstaltungen der kath. Kirche in 6ffentlichen Lokalen,” dated from 19
September 1953.

> The official (Breitmann) wanted to disallow even church dedications: “Jetzt treten viele kath.
Gemeinden mit Genehmigungsforderungen fiir neue Kircheweihfeste auf. Diese lehnen wir ab. Um hier
eine klare Linie in der Republik festzulegen, ist es notwendig, von dort eine grundsitzliche Entscheidung
zu treffen.”

3 Michael J. Sallnow and John Eade, eds. Contesting the Sacred. The Anthropology of Christian
Pilgrimage (Urbana and Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1991, 2000), 10.
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Catholicism. The most tangible impediment for religious travel was the construction of
the Berlin Wall in 1961. For the Catholic community, in particular, this was a symbol of
forced separation—an artificial boundary that divided what should have been a unified
diocese of Berlin. Faithful travelers who had crossed freely between sacred sites in Berlin
and its outskirts since the late 1940s once again adapted their practice to new geo-
political realities.

In the same way that orders in the East adjusted their hierarchies and established
more autonomy as a result of isolation, religious communities adapted ritualistic practice.
In the context of sacred sites, this meant renewing a local pilgrimage culture. There were
many instances in the 1950s of accommodation to the realities of daily existence in a
socialist dictatorship. The negotiations between Church and state regarding pilgrimage
and the role of orders and the willingness of both to compromise and adapt ensured the
continued existence of sacred sites in the GDR. In August 1953, the vicar general of the
diocese of Erfurt wrote to the bishop in Fulda on behalf of the Schonstétt
Marienschwestern, or the Secular Institute Schonstétt Sisters of Mary, in Friedrichroda
regarding the re-construction of a chapel of spiritual importance to the sisters.”** In his
letter, the vicar described the importance of the Sisters of Mary within the GDR. He
emphasized that many sisters traveled from different provinces to come to the aid of the
communities in the war-torn East. The chapel, which would be an exact replica of the
chapel in Schonstitt, would therefore serve as a unifying site for sisters working in

various villages and cities in East Germany. The vicar likewise highlighted the centrality

> BAEF, ROO 80 A VIII ¢ 17, Teil 2 1948-56 “Schonstitter Marienschwestern,” August 1953.
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of their East German province house, which was once a place of rest for Catholics in the
region, located on a type of pilgrimage road.

After the war, Friedrichsroda again became a kind of resort town. The Protestant
church rebuilt their own Erholungsheim, a place for recovery, across from the sisters’
province house “Haus Waldfrieden.” Since Friedrichsroda served as a kind of a secular
and religious pilgrim destination, or “quasi-Wallfahrtsort,” the sisters had the opportunity
to minister to numerous people in the surrounding community as they came to
Friedrichsroda for respite. The Schonstétt Sisters of Mary continued their ministry in
Friedrichsroda throughout the duration of the GDR and remained active as a site for
Catholic retreats, vacation, and healing. They operated a self-described “oasis of peace,”
where people could find spiritual and physical renewal and draw closer to God.”** The
Bendictine nuns in Alexanderdorf described the Abbey of St. Gertrud in the GDR in the
same language: “For the Catholic Church in the GDR Alexanderdorf was an oasis. For
others, the immersion in an atmosphere where faith and prayer were valued above all else
strengthened them for everyday life in a faithless environment.”>*® As caretakers of sites
like Friedrichsroda and St. Gertrud in Alexanderdorf, the sisters imbued these spaces with
a sanctity that encouraged Catholic and non-Catholic pilgrims. The reverence
surrounding such sites also ensured that they remained outside of political control, a fact
that would be central to the development of an alternative Catholic public sphere.

The number of reclaimed pilgrimage sites and local saints must have been

surprising to SED officials and to the larger secular society. A Neue Zeit article from

> http://www.schoenstatt-friedrichroda.de/ “Herzlich willkommen sind alle, die kérperlich und geistig-
seelisch Kraft schopfen mochten und nach einem Ort suchen, an dem Gottes Néhe spiirbar ist.

46 Archiv der Abtei St. Gertrud, Abtissin Ursula Schwalke, “Gott suchen in gott-vergessener Umwelt,”
Votrag auf der Abtissenkonferenz, 2002.
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